FILE COPY

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

IAUG - 6 2018

COVIHE NASH GAISER, CLERK
SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS
OF WEST MECHANISM

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

JAMES R. MEADOWS, PETITIONER BELOW, PETITIONER

vs.)

No. 18-0418 (13-C-69)

RALPH TERRY, ACTING WARDEN, MT. OLIVE CORRECTIONAL COMPLEX, RESPONDENT BELOW, RESPONDENT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

PAUL R. CASSELL
COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER
CASSELL & CREWE, P.C.
135 West Monroe St., Suite A
Wytheville, VA 24382
(276) 228-5566
E-MAIL ADDRESS: pcassell@cassellcrewe.com
W.Va. State Bar I.D. #7142

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT RELIEF BASED UPON THE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL.
- 2. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT RELIEF BASED UPON CUMULATIVE ERROR.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

By an indictment returned by the November 2010 term of the grand jury of Summers County, James Meadows was indicted on murder in the first-degree, death of a child by guardian or custodian, and child abuse resulting in injury. (A21–23). Petitioner proceeded to a jury trial and was ultimately convicted of murder in the second degree, death of a child by guardian or custodian, and child abuse resulting in injury. (A62–670). Petitioner was sentenced to concurrent definite terms of imprisonment of forty (40) years on the first two counts and an indeterminate sentence of one to five years on the third count. (A24–25). The original criminal case was appealed to this Court. *State v. Meadows*, 231 W.Va. 10, 743 S.E.2d 318 (2013). This Court upheld the conviction. ¹

On October 17, 2013, Petitioner filed a *pro se habeas corpus* petition. (A869–899). After the appointment of present counsel, an "Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus" was filed on May 1, 2014. (A1-685). An omnibus *Habeas Corpus* hearing was held on January 7, 2016. (A743–820). Thereafter, Petitioner filed his "Supplemental Memorandum in Further Support of

¹ In the opinion, the Court expressly left open the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel.

Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus." (A731–855). By order filed April 5, 2018, the circuit court denied the amended petition. (A856–868). This is an appeal of that order.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Meadows was convicted of murdering I. H., the young daughter of Mr. Meadows' then girlfriend, C.H. Mr. Meadows asserts that C.H. is responsible for the child's death. A summary of the entire trial testimony is not necessary for the purposes of this appeal. In addition, this Court has already provided a summary of the trial testimony in its prior opinion concerning the criminal appeal. *See State v. Meadows*, 231 W.Va. 10, 743 S.E.2d 318 (2013). The facts discussed herein are those relevant to this appeal.

At the trial in this matter, it became clear that there were only two persons who were around the deceased at the time of the injuries that eventually caused her death, Petitioner and C.H. The focus of the State's case was to demonstrate that Mr. Meadows was responsible for the injuries that caused the child's death. The focus of the defense should have been on the fact that Mr. Meadows was not responsible for the death and that it was far more likely that C.H. had caused the injuries that led to the child's demise.

Unfortunately, petitioner's trial counsel did not adequately prepare the case for trial.² Trial counsel was called to testify at the omnibus habeas corpus hearing in this matter as was

Petitioner concerning the representation. Mr. Meadows testified that the only discussions he had with trial counsel were before and after court hearings for five to ten minutes each. (A806-807).

Trial counsel also confirmed that the only meetings with his client, that took place after the arrest, occurred at hearings scheduled in the case. (A748-749, A758-763). Mr. Meadows never

² Petitioner's trial counsel was Randolph McGraw.

got to speak to his counsel over the phone because his office would not accept calls from the jail. (A806). Trial counsel cannot recall setting up any telephone calls with Mr. Meadows while he was incarcerated. (A762–763). Additionally, Mr. Meadows' trial attorney never visited with Mr. Meadows at the jail despite the fact that Mr. Meadows was incarcerated throughout the vast majority of the representation. (A763, A703–730). In fact, Petitioner's trial counsel testified at the omnibus hearing that he "never saw anything magical about going to the jail to speak to anyone." (A758–759). Furthermore, counsel cannot recall sending Mr. Meadows even one letter or other written communication. (A764). Mr. Meadows confirmed that he never received any correspondence whatsoever from his attorney. (A810).

Because of the extremely limited contact with his attorney, Mr. Meadows had very few discussions about key points of this case. He had no discussions with his lawyer about the witnesses that were going to be called. (A807). There were no discussions about trial strategy. (A807–808). Trial counsel never discussed the State's evidence and did not even provide a copy of the discovery to Mr. Meadows. This fact is supported by Mr. Meadows' complaint at trial about not having received the discovery. (A607, A808). Trial counsel asserted that he prepared Mr. Meadows for his testimony at trial by speaking to him while the trial was ongoing. (A766–767). Petitioner denies that his lawyer spent any time preparing him to testify and confirms that his lawyer also did not discuss the legal issues he faced, did not provide him with any tips before testifying, did not address possible subjects of cross-examination, and did not discuss the benefits and risks of testifying. (A809–810).

Trial counsel's lack of preparation was also further exemplified by his failure to have pretrial contact with defense witnesses. Counsel asserts that he did talk to witnesses and disputes the assertion that he did not speak to the witnesses. (A766). Numerous witnesses at the omnibus

hearing confirmed that counsel spent no time preparing them for trial because he did not speak to them before they testified. Witnesses Teresa Pack, Teresa Ripley, Teresa Worrells and Cameron Mann all confirmed that counsel never spoke to them before they testified. (A801, A816, A817, A818).

Counsel's lack of effective representation extended to two very critical witnesses who squarely placed the blame upon C.H. Stephanie Witham and Indie Riley both confirmed that C.H. had admitted responsibility for the death of the child. These admissions came from an investigation conducted by Gary Wheeler, the former Sheriff of Summers County, who was hired by the prosecution to investigate the underlying criminal case. (A789–790). Working as an investigator for the prosecution, Mr. Wheeler located, interviewed and obtained a statement from Stephanie Witham. (A671-685, A789–790). Mr. Wheeler, an extremely qualified, experienced law enforcement officer, found Ms. Witham to be a credible and persuasive witness. (A791). Petitioner asserts that his trial attorney advised him that Ms. Witham was his "number one" witness. (A810).

In her statement, Stephanie Witham claimed that C.H. had admitted responsibility for the death of the victim. Ms. Witham came to know C.H. when they were in the same jail pod from November 19, 2010 until January 20, 2011. (A671). Ms. Witham became C.H.'s friend due to the fact that the remainder of the pod was treating C.H. badly because of the nature of her crimes. (A671–672). According to Ms. Witham, C.H. became extremely upset after seeing an autopsy report that discussed the fact that the child's arm had been broken two days before her dying. C.H. stated that she "just went too far". (A672). Also in reference to the autopsy report, C.H. stated that "I just could not get her to shut up. All she wanted to do was cry." (A673). C.H. confided in Ms. Witham that she was confident that Petitioner would never do anything to hurt

her. She was also convinced that Petitioner was going to "sit and say he did something he didn't do." (A674–675). She confirmed that Petitioner was always kind to the victim. (A675). Through all of her interactions with C.H., Ms. Witham ultimately believed that C.H. was simply trying to "get someone to take the blame for something she did and maybe continue to tell him she loved him to keep him going." (A676). Throughout the time that C.H. was in jail with Ms. Witham, she was attempting to contact Petitioner and provide letters to him in various ways. (A675–676). Ms. Witham read two or three notes that had been given to Petitioner. (A676–677). With regard to the day of her daughter's injury at issue in this case, C.H. told her that she had to go to the welfare office and that she contacted Petitioner the night before to borrow his car. (A682). On the morning she went to the welfare office, she stated to Ms. Witham that Petitioner was asleep on the couch and C.H. "laid the baby" on his chest and told him that the baby had been up "all night crying" and she could not "shut" the child "up." (A682). She advised that she told Petitioner that the baby was having a hard time breathing. (A681–683). Then, C.H. left Petitioner with the baby as "she just shrugged her shoulders and walked out and said you can deal with it and she walked out an left." (A682). Ms. Witham confirmed that she would testify, (A685).

Stephanie Witham was present to testify at trial. However, trial counsel simply asked C.H. if she knew Ms. Witham but never followed up when C.H. denied it. Trial counsel then attempted to get the statement admitted, but failed to do so because he laid an inadequate foundation to impeach with the statement and could not recall C.H. to lay that foundation as she had been released as a witness. (A398–399, A481–487). Trial counsel inexplicably and ineffectively failed to confront C.H. with her incriminating statements. Had trial counsel laid the proper foundation, the direct testimony of Ms. Whitman would have been admissible to impeach C.H. But, because of the inadequate foundation, Ms. Witham could not testify about the

admissions. At the omnibus hearing, trial counsel unconvincingly asserted that despite his efforts to get the admissions made to Stephanie Witham by C.H. into evidence and his attempt to recall C.H. for that purpose, he never really wanted to question her about them. (A750–752, A769–772).

Gary Wheeler, while serving as the investigator for the prosecution, also located and interviewed Indie Riley. (A789–790). Indie Riley provided extraordinary testimony at the omnibus hearing. She confirmed that she was C.H.'s "cellie" and, then roommate when the two were released from jail. (A802). She eventually came to have concerns about C.H.'s behavior because she was not acting appropriately for someone who had lost a child. (A803). Ultimately, C.H. admitted to Ms. Riley that "I can't believe I did this." (A803–804). Ms. Riley took that to mean that "she killed that baby." (A804). Petitioner's trial counsel also asserts that he spoke with Indie Riley before trial and determined that her testimony was not helpful. (A778–781). Trial counsel never mentioned anything about Ms. Riley to Petitioner. (A811–812). Ms. Riley denies ever speaking to trial counsel or his investigator. (A804). Petitioner's counsel also asserts that he had a copy of the statement Ms. Riley had provided to Mr. Wheeler. (A779). Mr. Wheeler confirmed that no one had a copy of the statement because he only recently found it again. (A794–795). At trial, neither the prosecutor, defense counsel, nor defendant had any knowledge of the statement. (A486–487, A489–490). Petitioner's trial counsel also asserts that he spoke to Mr. Wheeler at least a couple of times about the case. (A766, A769). Mr. Wheeler confirmed that Trial counsel never had any significant contact with him and never asked about Ms. Riley or Ms. Witham, (A795–796).

Mr. Wheeler, with his years of law enforcement experience, found Ms. Riley and Ms. Witham to be credible and persuasive. (A796). According to Mr. Wheeler, the combination of

witnesses Riley and Witham, both confirming that C.H. had admitted to going "too far" when neither had contact with each other, reinforce the validity of each of their statements. (A796–797). According to Mr. Wheeler, when he began the investigation he was expecting to find evidence supporting Mr. Meadows' guilt, but the evidence he gathered from these witnesses shows that the investigation "was going really wrong at that point because everything was in the wrong direction." (A797). According to Mr. Wheeler, the issues that he uncovered were never presented to the jury because neither Petitioner's trial attorney nor anyone else asked. (A799–800). Mr. Wheeler confirmed that had he been asked, he would have had all the witnesses at court for the defense attorney, but Petitioner's trial counsel never requested to speak or spoke with him. (A800).

Improper evidence was also used to boost C.H.'s credibility at trial. In response to questions from Petitioner's trial counsel, C.H. repeatedly referenced that she had passed a polygraph test. (A394, A395, A405–406). At the omnibus hearing, trial counsel's only response to this issue is to assert that he did not solicit evidence of the polygraph from C.H. (A752–753, A773).

Trial counsel also failed to object to the fact that photos showing the injuries to the victim were displayed throughout Petitioner's cross examination. (A589–590). Trial counsel asserts that although he objected to the autopsy pictures of the victim, he did not object to the pictures being displayed throughout Petitioner's testimony. (A753, A773–774). Trial counsel, despite making extremely few objections throughout the trial, asserts that he did not object because of the possible effect on the jury. (A774–775). He acknowledges that the court permits objections to be made outside of the hearing of the jury. (A775–776). At the omnibus hearing, Petitioner confirmed that the disturbing autopsy photo remained displayed to both him and the jury

throughout his testimony and that the photo had a tremendous effect on his ability to testify. (A812-813).

Trial counsel also could not provide any additional information concerning important legal issues that were not properly addressed at trial. Trial counsel cannot recall how the change of venue from Summers County to Monroe County had taken place and disputed this Court's finding that there was no record of how the change of venue had occurred. (A753–754, A776–777). Petitioner testified that he was notified by phone of the transfer and that the only decision on the record was the denial of the change of venue motion. (A814). In the criminal appeal, this Court stated that there was "nothing in the record which documents when the decision to change venue was made, how the parties were notified of the change or any other circumstances surrounding the transfer." *State v. Meadows*, 231 W.Va. 10, 15, 743 S.E.2d 318, 323 (2013).

Because defense counsel "made no objection" and there was inadequate record as to the decision, appellate review was precluded. *Id.* at 327–328.

The State sought to strengthen its argument that Petitioner had committed these offenses by introducing the testimony of Steve Ferris. Mr. Ferris was allowed to testify about observations made from engaging with the victim's brother during play therapy sessions conducted to allow the child to deal with his sister's death. Petitioner's criminal trial appellate counsel attempted to assert on appeal that Mr. Ferris' testimony was comprised of conclusions based on mere speculation and conjecture. Appellate counsel further asserted that the testimony was not based on statements made by the brother, but that the psychologist's testimony consisted solely of his interpretations. *State v. Meadows*, 231 W.Va. 10, 21, 743 S.E.2d 318, 329 (2013). On appeal, this Court determined that:

Trial counsel did not argue that the testimony was not based on statements that brother made to the psychologist, that the brother's statements were inconsistent with the purpose of providing treatment, or that the statements were not relied upon by the psychologist for the purpose of treatment or diagnosis.

Id. at 21, 329.

Therefore even though objection to the testimony was articulable pursuant to the test identified by this Court, appellate review was precluded due to counsel's failure to raise the issue before the trial court. At the omnibus hearing, Petitioner's trial counsel could not remember any specifics about the testimony of Steve Ferris or any objections that he may have asserted. (A754–755). *Id.* at 21-22, 329-330. However, trial counsel acknowledged that the opinions to which Mr. Ferris testified would not be admissible. (A781–783).

Trial counsel also asked the opinion of one of the State Police troopers who had been involved in the case as to why the Petitioner's statements were inconsistent, resulting in the trooper to respond "I believe that he was trying to cover up the actions of what he did to this child." (A2-3). At the time of this hearing, Trial counsel could not remember anything about Trooper Smith's testimony at the omnibus hearing. (A755, A783–74).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Trial counsel failed Mr. Meadows. The first failure occurred when counsel chose to have no meaningful contact with his client...never visiting Petitioner at the jail to perform any of the duties of an attorney/client representation. Counsel then failed to prepare the witnesses in the case by not even talking to them before the trial, much less actually preparing them. Counsel did not properly investigate the case...never locating Indie Riley who offers startling testimony that C.H. had admitted to being responsible for the death of her child. Counsel then failed to perform at trial by bungling the impeachment of C.H. with the admissions she made to Stephanie Witham

of her responsibility for the death of her child such that those admissions were never presented to the jury. After that, trial counsel allowed C.H. to reference passing a polygraph on three separate occasions, buttressing her testimony and undermining Petitioner's testimony that it was really C.H. that caused the child's death. Then, trial counsel allowed the State to demonize Petitioner through speculative and inadmissible opinions and interpretations by a therapist that were clearly inadmissible, but never properly objected to by counsel. The end result was a conviction obtained not by the State's evidence, but rather as a result of the ineffective assistance of counsel.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Oral Argument is requested. Counsel contends that argument could be granted by the Court pursuant to W.Va.R.App.P. 19(a)(1), R. 19(a)(4), R. 20(a)(2) or R. 20(a)(3). This case may be appropriate for a memorandum decision.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

According to precedent from this Court, "[i]n reviewing challenges to the findings and conclusions of the circuit court, we apply a two-prong deferential standard of review. We review the final order and the ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard, and we review the circuit court's underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard. Questions of law are subject to a de novo review." *Phillips v. Fox*, 193 W.Va. 657, 661, 458 S.E.2d 327, 331 (1995)(*citing Burnside v. Burnside*, 194 W.Va. 263, 460 S.E.2d 264 (1995)).

1. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT RELIEF BASED UPON THE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL.

Trial counsel ineffectively represented Petitioner. The core of effective representation is adequate investigation and preparation. Here, trial counsel's investigation and representation

were startlingly deficient. Trial counsel did not involve Petitioner in the case and failed to locate, interview and prepare witnesses. Then, counsel committed legal errors that kept key defense evidence from the jury while allowing the prosecutor to use impermissible evidence to bolster the State's case.

This Court has recognized that the Sixth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States and Article 3, Section 14 of the Constitution of West Virginia mandate that a defendant, in a criminal proceeding receive "competent and effective assistance of counsel." *State ex. rel.*Strogen v. Trent, 196 W.Va. 148, 152, 469 S.E.2d 7, 9-10 (1996)(numerous citations omitted). Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are to be governed by the two prong test established by the United States Supreme Court in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 US 668 (1984): (1) counsel's performance was deficient under an objective standard of reasonableness and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different. *Id.* at 152, 12.

In reviewing counsel's performance, trial courts must apply an objective standard and determine whether, in light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the range of professionally competent assistance. *Id.* "Thus, a reviewing court asks whether a reasonable lawyer would have acted, under the circumstances, as defense counsel acted in the case at issue." *Id.* (citations omitted).

This Court has also stated that "counsel has a duty to make a reasonable investigation or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary." *State ex. rel. Daniel v. Legursky*, 195 W.Va. 314, 320, 465 S.E. 2d 416, 422 (1995). "[C]ourts . . . have found no difficulty finding ineffective assistance of counsel where an attorney neither conducted a reasonable investigation nor demonstrated a strategic reason for failing to do so." *Id.* at 320, 422.

a. TRIAL COUNSEL CONDUCTED AN INADEQUATE INVESTIGATION.

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