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

Third, the record is devoid of evidence to suggest the jury was distracted by the photographs and was unable to consider or listen to the Petitioner's testimony.

Fourth, Petitioner cannot demonstrate that trial counsel's decision was anything other than a strategic decision to avoid drawing additional attention to the photographs by repeatedly objecting. To be the basis for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, Petitioner must show counsel's tactic in deciding to forego objecting to the display of photographs was so ill chosen that it permeated the entire trial with obvious unfairness. *Daniel*, 195 W. Va. at 328, 465 S.E.2d at 430. Trial counsel testified at the omnibus evidentiary hearing as follows:

Q If you had noticed that they remained up during the entire course of his testimony, is that something you would've objected to?

A It's hard to say sitting here years later because, you know, that's a fine line. And there's a lot of art to it, so to speak, trying a case. I know that I objected to those photos being used at some point in this trial: And at some point, I think it becomes, how should I say, maybe overkill or becomes too - if you just keep objecting over and over and over and the judge keeps overruling you, I think that's not a good tactic at trial.

(App 774-775) While there is certainly a distinction between objecting to the use of the photographs and objecting to the display of the photographs after cross-examination thereon, trial counsel was in the best position to determine how to best minimize the impact of the photographs on the jury. Here, Petitioner cannot and did not show the photographs caused pervasive unfairness to permeate trial.

Fifth, even if trial counsel had objected to the display of photographs, Petitioner cannot show that any such objections would have been sustained. Trial counsel moved to exclude the photographs from trial as non-probative and highly prejudicial. (App 101-102) The trial court weighed the probative value against the prejudicial effect of the photographs, and ultimately ruled

the State's theory of the case, at least, is that the child was in reasonably good health early that morning when the mother left home and that the child suffered life-ending injuries while she was in the custody of the defendant. And

the Court feels that there's - if I understand correctly, there's pictures of the child before the day in question, in which the child appeared to be fairly normal. Then, there's pictures after the child was taken to the hospital that showed extensive injuries.

And the Court feels that there would be a great deal of probative value here because of that, because they would show that the child was initially uninjured, and then later was injured. So, there's a great deal of probative value...

(App 103-104) Under the guidelines of this ruling, the State then used the photographs during its cross-examination of Petitioner to rebut his testimony as to who inflicted the injuries on the victim, where the injuries were inflicted on the child's body, and what the child's injuries looked like when the Petitioner came into contact with her as compared to when the child was in her mother's custody the night before the crime. (App 587-588) Notably, the Circuit Court presiding in the instant habeas proceeding also presided over the trial, and its ruling on this issue in the April 30, 2018, Order indicates any such objection at trial would have been overruled. Specifically, the Circuit Court found this contention to be meritless "because of the relevancy of the photos, and the limited scope of their use, in attempt to rebut testimony." (App 804)

For these reasons, Petitioner fails to demonstrate that had trial counsel objected to the display of the photographs the outcome of trial would have different.

5. Trial counsel was not ineffective in moving for a change of venue based on the results of a professionally conduct poll of the community; and this Court previously determined Petitioner suffered no prejudice from the venue change.

This ineffective assistance of counsel predicate also fails because Petitioner cannot satisfy either prong of the *Strickland/Miller* test. To begin, Petitioner's claim of ignorance regarding the motion is disingenuous. The record reflects that trial counsel initially made the motion for a change of venue at a hearing where Petitioner was in fact present. (App 865) The

record further shows Petitioner (and his family) were the driving force behind the motion for the change in venue. During the omnibus evidentiary hearing, trial counsel testified:

A We did make a motion. In fact, we hired an organization from Charleston to do a survey to support our motion to change the venue. The family - Mr. Meadows and his family felt very strongly that he couldn't get a fair trial in Summers County, that it needed to be somewhere else because of all the pretrial publicity and because of the nature of the case.

Q So I think early on, you made that motion?

A I think so, yes, ma'am, near the beginning.

Q And at that time, did the judge grant the motion?

A I don't remember the exact mechanics of that. I thought the judge maybe took it under advisement. I just don't remember the exact mechanics of how all of that happened. At some point, he agreed, I guess. I don't know if he agreed or just - if he agreed it should be moved because of the possible pretrial prejudicial stuff that had happened or if he just felt like it was more comfortable to do the trial in Monroe County. I don't remember the exact mechanics and timing of all of that. But in any event, I know that it was moved to Monroe County at some point.

Q When you found out that it was going to be moved to Monroe County, did you feel that that in any way would prejudice your client?

A No. I mean, that was - like I say, that was what we wanted actually. I think we filed the motion to have it moved.

(App 753-754). For Petitioner to now claim it was done against his wishes is flatly wrong. Furthermore, in ruling on the motion the trial court specifically articulated it would hold its final ruling in abeyance pending further consideration, as the court believed that it may be possible that people in Monroe County were less likely to know the Defendant or have heard about the case. (App 865). The court ultimately granted the motion for change of venue, explaining

the reason that the case was transferred to Monroe County was that we anticipated there would be some difficulty in selecting a jury in Summers County. And it was felt that it would be prudent to transfer the case to Monroe County for trial purposes so that we could have a panel of jurors to pick from who probably knew little or nothing about this case. This case had publicity in Summers County. And it was transferred here so that we have a pool of people who really don't - hopefully don't know anything about this case.

(App 79-80) Clearly, there was a legitimate risk of a tainted jury pool in Summers County, and it was not only objectively reasonable for trial counsel to move for a venue change, it was prudent and wise. Had counsel failed to request a change of venue or had the trial court not moved the trial to Monroe County, Petitioner would no doubt be challenging those decisions now.

Moreover, Petitioner was not prejudiced by the change in venue. Although the Petitioner claims that he is well known, liked, and an involved citizen in the Summers County community, the jury panel hearing the evidence would not have had independent knowledge thereof. Statutory and case law holds that the "object of law regarding jury selection is to secure juror whose minds are wholly free from bias or prejudice." W.Va. Code §62-3-3; *State v. West*, 157 W.Va. 209 (1979). Petitioner's assertions are the exact type of personal knowledge and biases that would prevent a person from sitting on his jury. The Court, by State's objection for cause, would not have allowed any juror to sit on the jury that had prior knowledge of the Petitioner's good reputation or allowed them to consider their personal opinion in its deliberations.

Additionally, on Petitioner's direct appeal of his conviction, this Court recognized the lack of prejudice caused by the change of venue. It particularly noted that Petitioner was fully able to present his case to the jury, secure his witnesses, and obtain his evidence even though the location of the trial changed. *Meadows*, 231 W.Va. at 20, 743 S.E.2d at 328.

For this reason, no doubt, Petitioner now asserts trial counsel effectively denied him his right to appeal the change in venue by failing to make a record thereon. (Petr. Br. 19) Unfortunately for Petitioner, he did, in fact, directly appeal the change in venue. This Court had no trouble articulating that Meadows failed to show prejudice by the transfer and that he received a fair trial as guaranteed by the State Constitution. *Meadows*, 231 W.Va. at 20, 743 S.E.2d at 328.

Accordingly, this claim fails both prongs of the *Strickland/Miller* test.

6. Trial counsel was not ineffective in addressing play therapy evidence.

Petitioner's last contention is two-fold. First, he claims trial counsel was ineffective because his objections to the admissibility of play therapist Steve Ferris's testimony did not allow for appellate review on whether the child's statements fell within the purview of Rule 803(4) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence. Second, he contends the Circuit Court erred in concluding that "Ferris's contested statements were given to provide a context as to the entirety of the therapy session and to frame his interactions" with the child. (App 866)

As an initial matter, trial counsel did in fact object to the admissibility of Mr. Ferris's testimony. (App 267-295) Trial counsel termed Mr. Ferris's testimony objectionable "on every level" and "completely improper," and he objected to it as being beyond any hearsay exception permitted under Rule 803(4) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence¹¹ and as a violation of the Sixth Amendment confrontation clause. (App 35; 290-292) He did not, however, specifically

argue that the testimony was not based on statements the brother made to the psychologist, that the brother's statements were inconsistent with the purpose of providing treatment, or that the statements were not relied upon

¹¹ *Meadows*, 231 W.Va. at 16, 743 S.E.2d at 324; App 35.

by the psychologist for the purpose of treatment or diagnosis. See Syl. Pt. 4, *State v. Payne*, 225 W.Va. 602, 694 S.E.2d 935 (2010) (quoting Syl. Pt. 5, *State v. Edward Charles L.*, 183 W.Va. 641, 398 S.E.2d 123 (1990)) (providing test for determining admissibility of evidence pursuant to Rule 803(4)).

Meadows, 231 W. Va. at 21, 743 S.E.2d at 329. As a result, because trial counsel did not articulate these specific objections at the trial court level, this Court declined to assess the admissibility of Mr. Ferris's opinions pursuant to Rule 803(4) on Petitioner's direct appeal of his conviction. *Id.*¹²

In the current appeal, Petitioner gives the issue cursory treatment. He makes a conclusory assertion that trial counsel's performance was objectively unreasonable because the testimony from Mr. Ferris was not "statements made for the purpose of medical diagnosis or treatment." He bases this conclusion on Mr. Ferris's choice of wording, which includes "in my interpretation," "I think/don't think," and "I'm not sure." (Petr. Br. 21-22) However, Petitioner fails to proffer any legal authority supporting his conclusion that Mr. Ferris's use of these phrases transforms his 803(4) testimony into impermissible testimony. Thus, in accordance with the long-standing position that "issues which are . . . mentioned only in passing but are not supported with pertinent authority, are not considered on appeal," *State v. LaRock*, 196 W. Va. 294, 302, 470 S.E.2d 613, 621 (1996), this Court should decline to consider the issue.

Should the Court nonetheless consider it, Petitioner fails to show any prejudice from the lack of the specific objections set forth above. Assuming trial counsel had made those objections at trial, for habeas relief Petitioner would need to demonstrate either that the trial court would have excluded the testimony at issue or that this Court would have reversed the trial court's decision to allow the Mr. Ferris to testify about his treatment of the victim's four-year-old brother

¹² It appears appellate counsel did not challenge the trial court's ruling on the grounds articulated in the objection. See *Meadows*, 231 W.Va. 10, 743 S.E.2d 318.

pursuant to the Rule 803(4) hearsay exception for statements made for medical diagnosis or treatment. He has not and cannot show either.

It has long been recognized that a play therapist's testimony is admissible at trial under the medical diagnosis or treatment exception to the hearsay rule if the declarant's motive in making the statement is consistent with the purposes of promoting treatment and the content of the statement is reasonably relied upon by the therapist for treatment. *State v Pettrey*, 209 W.Va. 449, 460, 549 S.E.2d 323, 333 (2001). Here, the trial court expressly concluded the child's statements *were* made for medical diagnosis or treatment:

[u]nder *Mechling*, this would not appear to be testimonial statement. It's a statement made for medical purposes of treatment. There doesn't appear to be anything about the testimony from Mr. Ferris to the effect that the circumstances were such that it would lead an objective witness to reasonably believe that the statement was made to be available for use at trial. It was made for therapy.

(App 292) Clearly, then, the trial court found the child's statements to Mr. Ferris to be within the purview of Rule 803(4), and Petitioner cannot demonstrate that the trial court's ruling would have changed had counsel raised the three objections identified above.

Taking this analysis one step further, this Court would then have reviewed on direct appeal whether the trial court erred in allowing the play therapist to opine and explain his therapy sessions with the child pursuant to the Rule 803(4) hearsay exception. Petitioner has not offered any fact, law, or argument showing that the admission of this evidence per 803(4) would have been reversed on appeal. Under the governing standard of review, the admissibility of evidence is largely within the trial court's sound discretion, and the trial court's ruling will not be disturbed on appeal unless there has been an abuse of discretion. Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. Peyatt*, 173 W. Va. 317, 315 S.E.2d 574 (1983) citing *State v. Louk*, 171 W.Va. 639, 301

S.E.2d 596 (1983). Additionally, Rule 702(a) of the Rules of Evidence permits an expert witness to testify in the form of an opinion or otherwise, and Mr. Ferris was qualified as an expert in the field of psychology. (App 270) Relying on these legal tenets, Petitioner simply cannot and has not demonstrated that this Court would have reversed the trial court's ruling allowing Mr. Ferris's opinion testimony. Thus, Petitioner fails to show prejudice from trial counsel's choice of objections.

Next, Petitioner again makes a conclusory statement, claiming the Circuit Court erred in finding "Ferris's contested statements were given to provide a context as to the entirety of the therapy session and to frame his interactions" with the child. (App 866) However, Petitioner offers no fact, law, or argument to support the conclusion. Even if he did, it would be to no avail. Viewing Mr. Ferris's testimony as a whole (as opposed to the snippets conveniently removed from context for appeal purposes) demonstrates that although Mr. Ferris stated opinions and beliefs through phrases like "in my interpretation," "I think/don't think," and "I'm not sure," they were made in the context of how he treated, assessed, and diagnosed the child during the play therapy sessions. (App 413-435) Thus, the Circuit Court neither erred nor abused its discretion in its decision in this regard. (See App 856, 866)

C. Petitioner fails to demonstrate reversible error in regard to the Circuit Court's denial of relief based on cumulative error.

Petitioner's last assignment of error asserts the Circuit Court erred in failing to grant relief based upon cumulative error. (Pet'r's Brief 23). The problem with this claim is twofold. First and foremost, Petitioner's contention is "skeletal," consisting of a single statement of law and no legal analysis whatsoever, thereby implicating this Court's "truffle doctrine." *Sergeant v. City of Charleston*, 209 W.Va. 437, 549 S.E.2d 311 (2001) ("judges are not like pigs, hunting for truffles in

briefs.”) Cursory treatment of issues is insufficient to preserve the issue on appeal. *Id.*; *Johnson v. Garlow*, 197 W.Va. 674, 478 S.E.2d 347 (1996). Therefore, the claim has not been preserved for appellate review.

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